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Order 2000-3-24

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
WASHINGTON, D.C.
Issued by the Department of Transportation
on the 27th day of March, 2000
Served March 27, 2000
Complaints of
Franz Soni
· Paul Tobin and Angelo Bianco
And
Gerard M. Kelly

Dockets

OST 97-3287
OST 98-3623
OST 98-4504

Docket

OST 99-6111

v.
Continental Airlines, Inc.
Alleging Violations of 49 U.S.C. §41705 and
14 CFR Part 382

Continental Airlines, Inc.
Violations of 14 CFR Part 382, and
49 U.S.C. §§ 41310, 41702, and 41705
Enforcement Proceeding

CONSENT ORDER AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL

On August 16, 1999, the Office of Aviation Enforcement and Proceedings (AEP)
filed a formal complaint against Continental Airlines alleging numerous
violations of 14 CFR Part 382, the Department's rule prohibiting discrimination
against disabled persons in air transportation. The case proceeded to a
prehearing conference and at the time this settlement agreement was reached the
parties had commenced discovery. The AEP complaint was based on its review
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- 2of the three captioned third-party complaints filed against Continental Airlines
under 14 CFR 302.200, as well as an informal investigation undertaken by AEP.1
SUMMARY OF COMPLAINTS, CONTINENTAL'S RESPONSE,
AND AEP INVESTIGATION

The three formal captioned complaints were filed by the Eastern Paralyzed
Veterans Association (EPVA) on behalf of the named persons who are members
of EPVA. The complaint of Mr. Franz Soni describes a number of experiences he
allegedly encountered on three separate Continental Airlines' flights in 1997.2
With regard to those flights, Mr. Soni alleges: (1) that a boarding chair was not
promptly made available on his August 2, 1997, flight from Newark to Tampa
and that the crew failed to stow his wheelchair in the passenger cabin, as
required; (2) that, on his August 5 return flight, he was not provided a seat with a
moveable armrest and that attendants, in lifting him to the aisle chair, failed to
exercise sufficient care and caused him to suffer a bruise; and (3) that on a third
flight, a November 9 flight from Tampa to Newark, he was given a seat that did
not have a functioning moveable armrest and that he received a bump when he
was negligently transferred to a boarding chair at Newark. These incidents,
according to the complaint, demonstrate a pattern of discrimination against
disabled travelers and constitute violations of the ACAA and provisions of 14
CFR Part 382.3
The Tobin/Bianco and Kelly complaints make similar allegations. Mr. Tobin
claims that he was carelessly transferred to an aisle chair and both he and Mr.
Bianco allege that upon arrival at Newark, their destination on a September 1997
flight, they were stranded for approximately one-half hour aboard an aircraft
while awaiting a boarding chair. Mr. Kelly alleges that, on a flight from Newark
to Las Vegas on September 11, 1998, Continental refused to stow his wheelchair
in the passenger compartment on the aircraft in violation of 14 CFR 382.41, and
instead placed it in the cargo hold. However, Mr. Kelly acknowledges that his
request was accommodated on his return flight. All three complainants allege
That investigation covered the period since January 1997 with respect to complaints
received by the carrier and informal complaints received by the Department. Complaints
received by the Department described alleged violations of two provisions of Part 382, section
382.39 relating to wheelchair assistance and section 382.41 relating to stowage of personal
equipment.
2
The complaint also dealt with an incident in which Mr. Soni was denied boarding on a
Continental-Alitalia code-share flight from Rome to Newark. This portion of the complaint was
the subject of a Department consent order against Alitalia, Order 98-12-19, which found that_that
carrier had unreasonably discriminated against the complainant in violation of 49 U.S.C. § 41310.
This finding was based on the failure of Alitalia personnel to board Mr. Soni, who held a
confirmed reservation, on a Rome-Newark flight operated as a code-share service with
Continental.
3
EPVA filed a supplement to its complaint dated February 17, 1998, which clarifies some
of its factual claims regarding Mr. Soni's experiences.

'

..
•

I

- 3 that Continental fails to provide adequate training for its 'employees in matters
related to treatment of the disabled.
Continental's answers to the three complaints emphasize that the specific
incidents alleged in the complaints do not indicate a policy of discrimination by
the carrier against the disabled. The carrier, in its answers, states that it is
committed to meeting the requirements of Part 382 and the ACAA and believes
that it has done so, with the exception of rare incidents which were due to
inadvertent acts of the individual employees or contractors involved.
In response to the Soni complaint, Continental states that it did provide the
requisite boarding assistance on the August 2, 1997, flight, although with a minor
delay, and was in compliance with Department rules.4 With respect to his
complaint regarding the lack of a moveable armrest on the August 5 flight,
Continental asserts that the aircraft used on the flight was an older aircraft which
Part 382 does not require to have moveable armrests.5 Moreover, the air carrier
asserts it had in place a system to identify seats with movable armrests, as
required by Part 382, and that it met all other requirements of that rule. On the
November 9 flight on which the moveable armrest on Mr. Soni's seat allegedly
did not function, Continental claims that, while it makes every effort to maintain
its aircraft and facilities in working order, that particular seat had not been
subject to a prior service request. The carrier states that it was not aware that the
armrest was not functioning but that it was repaired promptly following Mr.
Soni's complaint. The two instances of allegedly improper transfers to and from
boarding chairs described by Mr. Soni do not represent a policy or practice of
discrimination, Continental claims, and do not reflect a lack of training.
Continental responds to the Tobin/Biano complaint by stating that the injury to
Mr. Tobin was minor and inadvertent and that the failur~ to provide prompt
assistance to the complainants in deplaning at Newark was an isolated incident
of miscommunication that does not reflect a policy of discrimination against the
disabled. With respect to the Kelly complaint, the carrier denies the allegations
and states, on the basis of interviews with members of the crew on the subject
flight, that the flight attendants do not recall receiving any specific request from
Mr. Kelly to store his wheelchair in the cabin area. In addition, the carrier states
that all attendants confirmed their knowledge of the Department's rule on
wheelchair stowage.

In a letter of March 16, 1998, Continental admitted that the aircraft used on the flight did
have a closet large enough to accommodate Mr. Soni's wheelchair, although the aircraft was an
older aircraft that was not required to have such a stowage area. Under Part 382 (14 CFR
382.41(e)(2)), when adequate stowage space is available in the cabin, the disabled passenger does
have priority in the use of the area for wheelchair stowage. The findings of this order reflect this
violation.
5
In addition, the aircraft in question never had its interior refurbished, which would have
triggered a requirement regarding moveable armrests.
4
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-4AEP also requested that the carrier provide records of complaints it received
from disabled travelers relating to three specific issues raised in the formal
complaints: stowage of wheelchairs in the passenger cabin, stranding of
passengers in a wheelchair or on-board aircraft, and allegations of physical
injury incurred by wheelchair-dependent passengers.6 AEP' s review revealed a
small number of alleged instances in which passengers were left unattended in
wheelchairs or on board aircraft for extended periods of time in violation of Part
382. The record~ also show that Continental or its contractors were involved in a
small number of cases of alleged physical injury, usually in the context of
transfers into or out of a wheelchair or from passengers who claimed to have
fallen out of a wheelchair in a terminal area. The records did not, however, show
any additional complaints of alleged failures to store wheelchairs in the cabin
area. Moreover, AEP's review of the training materials provided by Continental
indicates that the carrier has included appropriate instruction on assisting
wheelchair-dependent passengers and its training program appears to be
adequate. Finally, AEP's review of informal complaints received by the
Department indicates no policy of discrimination against disabled travelers by
Continental, although they do describe instances in which the carrier or its
contractors allegedly failed to use adequate care in moving wheelchairdependent passengers.
Part 382 is intended to ensure that disabled passengers receive
nondiscriminatory access to the air transportation system. With regard to the
record of Continental and other information available, AEP believes that
Continental is disposed to comply with the Department's disability requirements
and has taken substantial steps to achieve compliance. However, AEP also
believes that the carrier in the past has on occasion failed to meet its obligations
with respect to disabled passengers and that enforcement action is warranted.
Among the apparent violations alleged in complaints AEP has reviewed, it is
most concerned with apparent strandings of disabled passengers at terminal
facilities and aboard aircraft and instances of protracted delays in receiving
wheelchair assistance? Such allegations appear in the complaints received by
the carrier itself and provided to AEP in its investigation, as well as in informal
complaints received by the Department and in the formal complaints that are the
subject of this order. Section 382.39 requires that carriers provide wheelchair
assistance to disabled passengers and section 382.39(a)(3) specifically provides
that a disabled passenger shall not be left unattended in a wheelchair in which he
or she is not independently mobile for more than 30 minutes. The complaint
AEP did not request information from the carrier on complaints regarding moveable
armrests since its own complaint data did not indicate a compliance problem existed in this area.
7
AEP is also concerned about the injuries to disabled travelers that occur on occasion
when they are lifted into and out of wheelchairs. However, AEP believes that where the carrier
training program appears to be adequate and the occurrences are infrequent, as appears to be the
case here, the fault in such instances appears to lie with the individual employees involved. As
with other passenger injuries aboard aircraft, tort law would cover such situations and would
provide appropriate remedies.
6
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- 5 record AEP examined indicates to that office that Continental on several
occasions has failed to meet these requirements. In addition, AEP believes that
the record indicates that on several occasions Continental failed to provide
prompt dispositive responses to complaints from disabled travelers as required
by section 382.65. s
In mitigation, Continental denies that the complaints at issue in any way reflect a
pattern or policy of discrimination on the part of Continental or its vendors
toward its passengers with disabilities. Continental states that it successfully
transfers passengers with disabilities into and out of seats and between flights
and they fly throughout its system without complaint and without incident
every day. Continental flies more than 2,000 flights a day - carrying well over 43
million passengers a year. It a~serts that, throughout its domestic system, it
fulfills over 60,000 Meet and Assist/Special Services Requests per month. In
Newark alone, Continental has over 450 such requests every day. According to
the carrier, the number of complaints regarding these services relative to the
overall number of service requests filled is infinitesimal.
Continental also states that it has extensive training programs for its Complaint
Resolution Officers (CROs), customer service representatives, airport personnel,
flight crews, vendors, and skycaps. According to the carrier, Continental also
has a Task Force on Serving Customers with Disabilities which was created by its
Chief Executive Office in Continental's continued efforts to improve its ability to
serve such passengers. This task force consists of management level personnel of
all departments within the company and regularly meets to discuss the current
progress of each department and ideas for bettering its services. Better serving
customers with disabilities is also a focal point of Continental's plan for the
company's future, which, the carrier asserts, reflects and emphasizes the
company's dedication to its passengers with disabilities.
Continental strongly believes that it is in compliance with the ACAA and Part
382 of the Department's regulations, and denies that it engaged in any
discriminatory conduct in the incidents at issue in this order.
DECISION

AEP states that it has carefully considered the formal complaints submitted in
the captioned dockets, the informal complaints in the Department's files,
Continental's records, and the information and arguments submitted by the
carrier. It continues to believe that, on several occasions, Continental's past
B
Section 382.65 imposes a number of notification requirements with respect to complaints
from disabled individuals. Carrier CRO's are required to provide dispositive written responses
to oral complaints under 14 CFR 382.65(a)(5)(ii) and (iii), and carriers must, in addition, provide a
dispositive written response to written complaints under section 382.65 (b )(3); in both cases, the
response of the carrier must include an explicit mention that the complainant has the right to
pursue his or her complaint with the Department of Transportation.

- 6compliance with certain provisions of Part 382, the Department's rule mandating
nondiscrimination against the disabled in air transportation, was not adequate
and warrants enforcement action. In order to avoid litigation, and without
admitting or denying the alleged violations, Continental has agreed to settle this
matter with the Office of Aviation Enforcement and Proceedings and enter into
this consent order to cease and desist from future similar violations of the
Department's rules prohibiting discrimination against disabled air travelers. By
this order, the Department finds that Continental on occasion (1) has failed to
meet its obligations to assist disabled travelers in boarding and deplaning in
violation of 14 CFR 382.39(a)(l) through (a)(3); (2) has failed to store wheelchairs
properly in the cabin area in violation of 14 CFR 382.41(e)(2); and (3) has failed to
provide dispositive responses to passengers, as required by 382.65(a)(5)(ii) and
(iii), and 382.65(b )(3), and failed to inform complainants of their right to pursue
enforcement remedies at the Department as required by 382.65(a)(5)(iv) and
382.65(b )(3)(iii). The order, in addition, directs the carrier to cease and desist
from similar violations in the future and assesses a civil penalty of $50,000 in
compromise of the penalties assessable under 49 U.S.C. §46301.
The Deputy General Counsel and Continental have also determined, on review
of all the materials related to this matter, including the three-captioned thirdparty complaints, the informal complaints received by the Department and the
informal complaints received by Continental, that further action by the
Department is not warranted. Accordingly, this order dismisses the subject
third-party complaints. Although Continental's conduct as described in the
formal complaints as well as in other documentation violated certain
requirements of Part 382, the Deputy General Counsel believes that those
violations are adequately addressed by the settlement reached in this case. In
addition, she believes that the incidents in question were limited in number and
do not appear to reflect a policy of noncompliance with Patt 382 on the part of
the carrier. These factors render further action by the Department on this matter
not to be in the public interest.
ACCORDINGLY,
1. Based on the above discussion, we approve this settlement and the
provisions of this order as being in the public interest;
2. We find that Continental Airlines, Inc., violated 14 CFR 382.39 (a), of the
Department's rule on nondiscrimination on the basis of disability in air
travel when it failed to provide adequate assistance to disabled
individuals as described above;
3. We find that Continental Airlines, Inc., violated 14 CFR 382.41(e)(2) by
failing to stow a wheelchair in the cabin area of an aircraft when an
appropriate stowage area was available;
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4. We find that Continental Airlines, Inc., violated 14 CFR 382.65(a) by
failing to provide dispositive responses to disabled complainants, as
required by 382.65(a)(5)(ii) and (iii), and 382.65(b )(3), and by failing in
such responses to inform complainants explicitly of their right to
pursue enforcement remedies at the Department as required by
382.65(a)(5)(iv) and 382.65(b)(3)(iii);
5. We find that by engaging in the conduct described in paragraphs 2, 3,
and 4, supra, Continental Airlines violated 49 U.S.C. § 41705;
6. We order Continental Airlines, Inc., to cease and desist from the
activities described in paragraphs 2, 3, and 4, supra;
7. Continental Airlines, Inc., is assessed $50,000 as a compromise of civil
penalties that might otherwise be assessed for the violations found in
ordering paragraphs 2, 3, 4, and 5 of this order, which amount shall be
due and payable within 15 days of the service date of this order;
8. All payments made pursuant to this order shall be made by wire
transfer through the Federal Reserve Communications System,
commonly known as "Fed wire," to the account of the U.S. Treasury.
Failure to pay the penalty as ordered will subject Continental to
assessment of interest, penalty, and collection charges under the Debt
Collection Act, and possible enforcement action for failure to comply
with this order; and
8. We dismiss the complaints filed in Dockets OST 97-3287, OST 98-3623,
and OST 98-4504.
This order is issued under authority assigned in 14 CFR 385.ll(d) and shall
become a final order of the Department 30 days after its service unless a timely
petition for review is filed or the Department takes review on its own motion.
By:
Burton S. Kolko
Administrative Law Judge
(SEAL)

An electronic version of this document is available on the World Wide Web at
http://dms.dot.gov//reports/reports_aviation.asp
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